I. INTRODUCTION 

This Public Records Act ("PRA") case presents the question of 

whether the federal government can prevent a city police officer from 

testifying in a state court case by asserting that the police officer's 

participation on a joint state/federal task force transformed the officer into 

a federal employee who cannot testify in a state court proceeding without 

the approval of the federal agency. The case also presents several 

questions concerning the scope of the work-product privilege where 

documents are created and exchanged by both state and federal 

prosecutors, but only the state prosecutors are anticipating litigation. 

Two law enforcement officers, Seattle Police Department ("SPD") 

Detective Leonard Carver, and FBI Agent Larry Carr, worked together as 

members of a joint SPD/FBI Task Force to investigate Michael 

Mockovak. CP 1206. Carver and Carr utilized Daniel Kultin an 

undercover informant, and Kultin surreptitiously recorded his 

conversations with Mockovak. CP 431,433-437. Eventually, Mockovak 

was arrested, charged, and convicted of Solicitation of Murder 1 and 

Attempted Murder 1 for taking a substantial step toward killing his 

business partner Joseph King. CP 410, 43 7. 1 See State v. Mockovak, King 

1 Mockovak was also tried on a second count of Solicitation of Murder 1 for allegedly 
asking Kultin to kill Bradley Klock, but he was acquitted of that charge. CP 437. 
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County Cause No. 09-1-07237-6 SEA. Kultin, a Russian immigrant, was 

the prosecution's chief witness in the state court criminal trial. 

The conviction was based upon Mockovak's "agreement" with 

Kultin, an employee working for Drs. Mockovak and King as the Director 

of Information Technologies at their eye clinic. CP 428. Unbeknownst to 

Mockovak, Kultin had agreed to work for the FBI as a confidential 

informant. CP 428. After roughly six months of conversations, Kultin 

eventually persuaded Mockovak to authorize him to hire some Russian 

Mafia hit men to kill King. CP 428. In actuality, there were no hit men, 

but Kultin eventually persuaded Mockovak to give him money to be used 

to hire them. CP 436. Mockovak was arrested on November 12, 2009. 

CP 437. The trial took place in January and February of 2011; the jury 

returned its verdicts on February 3, 2011. Both FBI Agent Lawrence Carr 

and SPD Detective Leonard Carver testified in the state court trial. 

Kultin's credibility was critical to the outcome of the trial. 

Mockovak's defense was that Kultin entrapped him into making an 

agreement that he was not otherwise predisposed to make by eventually 

persuading him to hire Russian Mafia hit men (who did not actually exist) 

to carry out a hit. CP 429.2 In closing argument, defense counsel argued 

2 To establish entrapment a defendant has to prove that the idea for the crime 
"originated in the mind" of a law enforcement agent. RCW 9A.J6.070. Mockovak 

(Footnote continued next page) 
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at length that Kultin was a liar who had lied to everyone he came in 

contact with.3 The prosecutor sharply disputed defense counsel's 

portrayal of Kultin and argued that he "didn't lie" and he "wasn't lying." 

RP 211/11, at 38. IfMockovak had had additional evidence with which to 

impeach Kultin's credibility, he might easily have been acquitted of the 

attempted murder charge. 

During the 14 month time period following his arrest and prior to 

the start of his criminal trial, Mockovak's defense attorneys repeatedly 

tried without success to get information about Kultin's immigration status 

and any pending application for U.S. citizenship. CP 560, 566-67, 573, 

577-78, 582-86, 593. After his conviction had been affirmed by this 

Court, on November 20, 2013 Mockovak made a PRA request. 

Suspecting that Brad/ information that could have been used to impeach 

argued that the idea for the crime originated with informant Kultin. The State, based on 
Kultin's testimony, said that the idea for the crime originated with Mockovak. 

3 "Daniel Kultin began lying when he first came into this case, from the first time he 
went to the FBI in Pm1land and told a lie about how somebody found out about Brad 
Klock's travel plans. And we'll go over that lie in just a bit. [~] From that first lie he 
continued to lie. He lied to agent Carr when he looked him in the eye and said in June of 
2009, "I'm making $80,000 at Clearly Lasik." ... [~) "He walked into this com1room, 
and then he looked you in the eye and he lied to you again and again and again . ... " 
RP1/31111, at 114-15 (italics added). 

"This man lied to the FBI about these contacts, he lied to Ms. Storey, he lied to Ms. 
Barbosa, he lied to agent Carr, and he would have lied to you, except he got confronted 
in January, and so he had to come out with it." RP 1/31/11, at 134-35 (italics added). 

"If that's true, then what he told the FBI is a lie, and if he's lying about the 
origination of who brought this plot to who, are you willing to trust him?" RP 1/31/11, at 
139 (italics added). 

4 Bradyv. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). 
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Kultin had not been disclosed to him, Mockovak made a PRA request for 

records pertaining to Kultin's immigration and citizenship status. CP 2, 

38, 44-48. When the King County Prosecuting Attorney ("KCPA") failed 

to respond in a timely manner, Mockovak filed suit, and many records 

were then produced, including emails between county prosecutors, FBI 

agents, U.S. Attorneys, and Detective Carver. Many ofthese records were 

significantly redacted and Mockovak challenged some of the redactions. 

Mockovak also deposed informant Kultin and sought to question 

him about his initial immigration status as an asylee, and his prior INS 

arrest, but Kultin asserted the Fifth Amendment privilege against self

incrimination and refused to answer questions on these topics. CP 486-89. 

Mockovak then attempted to depose Detective Leonard Carver. Although 

Carver was initially willing to be deposed, the U.S. Attorney's Office took 

the position that he could not be deposed without the consent of the 

federal government. Counsel for the FBI suggested that if Mockovak 

formally requested such FBI approval, the FBI would probably give its 

consent to Carver's deposition. Accordingly, Mockovak sent such a 

request to the FBI, and simultaneously asked the Superior Court to delay 

its consideration of pending summary judgment motions so as to give 

Mockovak the opportunity to depose Carver. 

The Superior Court granted Mockovak's request to continue 
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consideration of the summary judgment motions so that Mockovak would 

be able to depose Carver, but then the FBI and the U.S. Attorney decided 

not to approve the deposition request, and Carver failed to appear for his 

deposition. Mockovak asked the Superior Court to compel him to submit 

to a deposition, but ultimately the Court denied that request. 

At the hearing on the parties' motions for summary judgment, the 

Superior Court questioned the parties about the relevance of the D.C. 

Circuit's decision in Roth v. Department of Justice, 642 F.3d 1161 (D.C. 

Cir. 2011), a federal Freedom oflnformation Act ("FOIA") case involving 

a clash between a defendant's due process right to disclosures under Brady 

and the privacy exemption to FOIA. After the hearing, the Superior Court 

sent the parties an e-mail request for additional materials that would assist 

the court in weighing "the interests underlying the asserted work-product 

exception" against "the public interests" in revealing potential Brady 

violations. CP 1393. The parties filed the requested additional materials, 

and two weeks later the Superior Court granted the KCPA's motion for 

summary judgment and denied Mockovak's cross-motion for summary 

judgment, ruling that all the redactions in the produced public records 

were properly made pursuant to the work product exemption to the PRA. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Appellant Mockovak assigns error to: 
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1. The trial's court's refusal to compel Detective Carver to submit 
to deposition by Mockovak. 

2. The trial court's decision to grant the defendants' motion for 
summary judgment. 

3. The trial court's decision to deny Mockovak's cross-motion for 
summary judgment. 

4. The trial court's determinations that all the record redactions 
made by the defendants were properly made because the 
redacted information was protected by the work-product 
privilege. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF 
ERROR. 

1. 5 U.S.C. §301 authorizes federal agencies like the Department 
of Justice ("DOJ") to make regulations governing the conduct 
of "its employees." Does this statute authorize the DOJ to 
issue a regulation governing the conduct of a detective 
employed by the Seattle Police Department who was assigned 
to a joint task force where he worked cooperatively with an 
FBI Agent? 

2. Does a federal regulation that prohibits a city police officer 
from being deposed in a state court proceeding without first 
obtaining the approval of a federal official violate the Tenth 
Amendment? 

3. Given the constitutional problems that would be raised by an 
interpretation of 28 C.F.R. 16.21 that construed a municipal 
police officer assigned to a joint state/federal task force as an 
"employee" of the Justice Department, must a court apply the 
rule of constitutional avoidance by rejecting this construction 
and holding that the regulation is inapplicable to this officer? 

4. Failing to realize a prosecutor's constitutional duty under 
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and Giglio v. United 
States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), to disclose favorable evidence to a 
defendant always overrides the work-product privilege, did the 
Superior court err by "weighing" the interests underlying the 
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work-product privilege against Mockovak's due process Brady 
right to disclosures? 

5. Since the work-product doctrine applies only to documents 
created in anticipation of litigation, is the work-product 
privilege inapplicable to documents created by federal 
attorneys after the federal prosecutors had decided not to 
prosecute Mockovak and to leave criminal prosecution to state 
court prosecutors? 

6. By sending documents which they authored to federal 
attorneys, did the state court prosecutors waive any work
product privilege that might have previously existed by 
voluntarily disclosing the documents to a third party? 

7. Assuming that the e-mails to witness Kultin contained some 
information which would have been protected by the work
product privilege if they had not been sent to Kultin, did the 
state court prosecutors waive any work-product privilege that 
might have previously existed by voluntarily disclosing the 
information to a witness? 

8. Did Mockovak demonstrate that any of the redacted 
information which is actually covered by the work-product 
privilege must give way because Mockovak made the requisite 
showing that ( 1) he has a substantial need for the redacted 
information, and (2) he is unable to obtain the information he 
seeks elsewhere without undue hardship? 

9. Did the KCPA's voluntary disclosure of the information 
contained within the NCIC Criminal History record for 
informant Daniel Kultin waive any privilege that might 
otherwise have covered that document? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Mockovak's unsuccessful attempts to obtain discovery in the 
criminal case regarding Kultin's immigration status. 

Kultin immigrated to this country from Russia. CP 410, 429. 

Apparently law enforcement was initially confused about his 
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immigration/citizenship status. Five days after his arrest, Agent Carr 

wrote a memo in which he mistakenly described Kultin as "a permanent 

US citizen who emigrated from Ulyanovsk, Russia, at age 18 .... " CP 

410, 421. Similarly, in his Certificate for Determination of Probable 

Cause filed on November 17, 2009, Detective Carver stated that Kultin 

was a U.S. citizen. CP 411, 464. 

But Kultin was not a U.S. citizen when charges were filed in 

November of 2009. As a result of this Public Records Act lawsuit, FBI 

documents came to light which show that (1) as of April 2009 Kultin was 

not a citizen but he had a citizenship application pending; and (2) as of 

late November 2010 Kultin still was not yet a citizen. Moreover, four 

years later, when Kultin was deposed in this PRA case, he confirmed that 

he was not a U.S. citizen in January of 2011 when he testified at 

Mockovak's trial. CP 411, 510-11, 522-23. 

Having been misinformed that he was a U.S. citizen, Mockovak's 

defense attorneys sought to find out whether Kultin had received any 

assistance in obtaining citizenship from law enforcement. In their Second 

Requestfor Discovery (2118/1 0), they asked the prosecution to disclose: 

[a]ny information ... regarding promises of immunity, leniency, 
preferential treatment or other inducements made to [Kultin], ... 
in exchange for [his] cooperation, including ... assisting in matters 
of sentencing or deportation, assisting in helping the witness 
obtain Naturalization, any contacts with INS on behalf of the 
cooperating witness .... 
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CP 560 (emphasis added). 

On April 30, 2010, defense attorney Collette Tvedt wrote to Senior 

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney ("SDP A") Storey to "follow up on 

[Mockovak's] Second Request for Discovery" stating "[w]e have not yet 

received responses to several of our specific requests." CP 566. Tvedt 

acknowledged that the KCP A probably did not have possession of the 

FBI's investigative file, but Tvedt specifically asked Storey to obtain it 

from the FBI and to provide it to the defense. CP 566. Tvedt reiterated 

that the defense was seeking information regarding immigration or 

citizenship assistance provided to Kultin. CP 566-67. In a letter dated 

May 10, 2010, Storey replied: 

Mr. Kultin was apparently the subject to [sic] an INS investigation, 
which was quickly resolved. The FBI has denied our requests for 
further information. 

CP 570 (emphasis added). Storey did not mention the fact that the INS 

had actually arrested Kultin during this investigation. 

Since the state prosecutors said they had no control over the 

documents and information in possession of the federal authorities, 

Mockovak's defense attorneys contacted the FBI. On August 24, 2010, 

attorney Joe Campagna wrote directly to Bruce Bennett, Associate 

Division Counsel for the FBI and requested: 

Any records relating to compensation or benefits offered or given 
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to Daniel Kultin in return for participating in the investigation of 
Michael Mockovak, including but not limited to any offers or 
payments of money, or any offers of or discussion about 
assistance with Daniel Kultin 's immigration status . 

. . . Most importantly, Daniel Kultin- a paid FBI informant- is the 
chief witness against Dr. Mockovak. Under Giglio v. United 
States, 405 U.S. 150, withholding of evidence that tends to 
impeach the testimony of a key government witness would infringe 
Dr. Mockovak's due process rights .... 

CP 572-73 (emphasis added). 

On September 7, 2010, Assistant United States Attorney 

("AUSA") Phil Lynch wrote back and said that after conferring with the 

FBI, the USAO consented to Campagna's document request "to the extent 

set forth below." CP 575. The FBI agreed to produce the 302 reports that 

covered the period between August 12 and October 19, 2009, but refused 

to provide any reports for dates before and after that. CP 575. 5 

On September 28, 2010, Campagna wrote Lynch and agam 

requested copies of records pertaining to Kultin. Campagna zeroed in on 

the time period before August 12, 2009 and asked for the records 

pertaining to conversations between Kultin and Mockovak "that occurred 

between April 10, 2009 and August 12, 2009"; and for "records of 

communications, whether written or otherwise, between Kultin and any 

5 Similarly, the FBI agreed to provide a summary of the amounts of money that the 
FBI paid to Kultin, but declined to release copies of other documents pe1iaining to him. 
CP 575. Lynch said that the FBI would "only" produce those pmiions of the informant's 
file that were "outlined above," and thus declined to produce any records that might exist 
regarding any immigration assistance which Kultin might have received. CP 575. 
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agent or employee of the F.B.I., or any associated task force, including but 

not limited to Special Agents Lawrence Carr, Special Agent George 

Steuer, and Detective Leonard Carver." CP 577-78. 

On October 4, 2010, Lynch wrote again, stating that either the FBI 

had already provided the records that the defense was requesting, "or the 

FBI is not authorized to provide the materials as a matter of FBI policy." 

CP 580. He said that "all releasable materials" had already been provided 

and that the FBI was not authorized to release anything more. CP 580. 

On October 12, 2010, Mockovak's defense counsel served a 

subpoena duces tecum on the FBI's legal counsel, directing Agent Carr to 

produce documents or records by no later than October 21 51
• CP 582-86. 

The subpoena called for production, inter alia, of records relating to "any 

offers or discussion about assistance with Daniel Kultin's immigration 

status" or about "assistance provided to Daniel Kultin in any way." CP 

583. On October 19,2010, AUSA Brian Kipnis responded in writing and 

advised Campagna that the subpoena was not legally enforceable against 

the FBI or against any of its agents, and that the Superior Court had no 

jurisdictional authority over the FBI and could not order the FBI to 

comply with it. CP 588-89. 

On October 20, 2010, Campagna wrote to Kipnis, renewing his 

request for any evidence bearing upon Kultin's credibility, citing to Giglio 
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v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and arguing that Mockovak had a 

due process right to evidence that tended to impeach Kultin. CP 593. 

On October 25, 2010, AUSA Kipnis wrote Campagna and argued 

that Mockovak had no right to any discovery from the United States 

because "the United States is not prosecuting Mr. Mockovak." CP 595. 

Kipnis said that if a compromise could not be reached the United States 

would be moving to quash the defendant's subpoena. CP 595. 

B. The KCP A corrects its earlier misstatement that Kultin was a 
U.S. citizen. 

On October 28, 2010, Detective Carver advised SDP A Storey by 

email: "We checked with our US Immigration Task Force Officer here 

and confirmed Kultin is a lawful permanent resident, granted asylee status 

in 1997." CP 599. The wording of this email (stating that Kultin's status 

as a lawful permanent resident was "confirmed") is strange since 

previously both Carver and Carr had described Kultin as a U.S. citizen. 

See CP 410, 464. Storey forwarded Carver's email to Mockovak's 

defense counsel that same day. CP 598. 6 Thus, the State informed 

Mockovak's attorney on October 28, 2010, that Kultin was not a U.S. 

citizen - contradicting what Detective Carver had previously stated back 

6 
Later that afternoon, the two state cou11 prosecutors exchanged emails, apparently on 

the same subject, but the entire contents of those two emails have been redacted. CP 598. 
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in November of2009 when Mockovak was first arrested and charged. 

C. Roughly one month before the criminal trial began, the KCP A 
disclosed that Kultin had once been arrested by the INS, and 
represented that there was "no reason to believe" that Kultin 
had been offered "some form of immigration assistance" in 
exchange for his cooperation in this case. No mention was 
made of Kultin's pending application for U.S. citizenship. 

Having been denied the discovery that they sought, on November 

18, 2010, Mockovak' s attorneys filed a motion to dismiss the charges 

against him. They argued that while a state court judge might not have the 

power to order the federal government to produce discovery, she did have 

the power to dismiss the state court charges pursuant to CrR 8.3. 

On December 3, 2010, the KCPA filed a response to Mockovak's 

motion to dismiss. CP 601-623. The KCPA argued that Mockovak's 

contentions that he had not been provided with adequate discovery were 

simply not true. The KCP A purported to respond specifically to 

Mockovak's complaint that he had not been told whether law enforcement 

had made any "inducements" to Kultin. In its brief the state prosecutors 

asserted that six months earlier the FBI had sent a letter that "confirms that 

no inducements were made to Kultin" and thus the State prosecutors 

concluded that "there is no reason to believe that 'Kultin was offered some 

form of immigration assistance' as an inducement." CP 602. 

In suppmi of its "no reason to believe" assertion, the State offered 

the declaration of Detective Carver. (Significantly, the State never 
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submitted any declaration from Agent Carr.) PRA documents disclosed 

four years later show that Carver first sent a draft of this declaration to 

Storey with an accompanying email which stated: "See the attached. I 

made some changes and atlded information about immigration stuff, 

hoping to bolster it a bit. Too much? Let me know .... " CP 625 

(emphasis added). In his declaration Carver said he was familiar with a 

"criminal and arrest history report" and with "documentation" from the 

Department of Homeland Security. 7 

Carver's declaration stated that Kultin had first spoken about

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