I. INTRODUCTION 

Michael Mockovak appeals from the summary judgment 

dismissal of his Public Records Act (PRA) challenge to the 

redaction of certain prosecutor file documents. Mockovak also 

seeks review .of an order denying his motion to compel discovery 

from an FBI task force investigator. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Public Records Request 

Mockovak is an inmate with the Department of Corrections. 

On November 20, 2013, he sent a PRA request to the King County 

Prosecuting Attorney (PAO) through his attorney, James Lobsenz. 

(CP 44) The request included several subparts, essentially seeking 

any documents in the PAO's possession that referred to Daniel 

Kultin, an informant who testified at Mockovak's criminal trial. 1 Id. 

1. Criminal case discovery 

Some brief background is warranted to place Mockovak's PRA 

request in context. Mockovak's criminal investigation originated with 

1 Mockovak, a former physician, was convicted of attempted murder in the first 
degree, solicitation to commit murder in the first degree, attempted theft in the 
first degree, and conspiracy to commit theft in the first degree arising from his 
attempt to hire Russian hitmen to murder his business partner, Dr. Joseph King. 
State v. Mockovak, noted at 174 Wn.App. 1076 (2013) (unreported). 
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the FBI and involved cooperative efforts between federal and local 

law enforcement officers and prosecutors. See e.g. CP 1125-28. The 

PAO ultimately prosecuted the case in the King County Superior 

Court. (CP 307) Information sharing between federal and local law 

enforcement had occasional points of friction regarding the process 

for obtaining and releasing federal investigation documents. See e.g. 

CP 189, 190-93, 201-15, 218, 229-30, 235, 236, 267-76. These 

issues initially prompted Mockovak to file a motion to dismiss charges 

or suppress witnesses based upon purportedly insufficient 

disclosures regarding Kultin and other matters. (CP 1125, 1749) 

As the criminal case progressed towards trial, however, the 

FBI provided additional documents and summaries and allowed 

Mockovak to view relevant federal file materials. (CP 17 45-48; 1800-

04; 1806; 1828-29) Mockovak was represented at his criminal trial 

by able counsel2 who, after receiving and viewing the additional 

materials, candidly affirmed to the Court that they had been 

provided with all relevant Kultin immigration-related detail: 

2 Mockovak was represented at his criminal trial by Jeffery Robinson, Joseph 
Campagna and Colette Tvedt of the law firm of Schroeter, Goldmark & Bender. 
Matter of Michael Mockovak, No. 69390-5-1, 2016 WL 3190500, at 1 (Wash. Ct. 
App. June 6, 2016). Robinson was lead counsel and has practiced criminal 
defense for over 30 years in Washington. Id. 
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• December 6, 2010 hearing: with respect to information 
provided "regarding payments or inducements, including 
assistance with citizenship," Mr. Robinson indicated, "I 
have no reason to doubt the accuracy of that information 
and, assuming that information is complete, then on 
those two issues, we have been provided the 
information." (CP 114 7-48) 

• December 13, 2010 hearing: Mr. Robinson states, "my 
understanding is that we have a [confidential human 
source] manual that is outstanding. Everything else we 
have requested in our discovery has been provided to us 
as of Wednesday of last week .... So my understanding is 
that we have the underlying material for everything" (CP 
1801-1803) 

• December 13, 2010 hearing: Mr. Robinson indicates "I 
have to acknowledge to the Court that we have been 
given - to my understanding, we have been given every 
piece of paper in the FBI file that is responsive to our 
request, with exception of the manual" (CP 1806) 

• December 16, 2010 hearing: Mr. Campagna 
acknowledges agreement regarding FBI manual and 
affirms "We have received all of the documents that we 
need. We have all of the information that we need. We 
just need to finish the interviews3

." (CP 1828-29). 

B. Public Records Response 

In response to Mockovak's post-conviction PRA request for 

Kultin-related material, the PAO provided a vast number of redacted 

and unredacted email, email attachments, correspondence, notes 

and other attorney file documents. These materials were delivered in 

3 Remaining interviews of FBI agents and Kultin were set for December, 2010, with 
Kultin's taking place on December 22, 2010. (CP 1814-15, 1829, 1839-43) 
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several installments, the last of which occurred on October 29, 2014. 

(CP 54-70) In addition to the extensive volume of documents 

delivered, the PAO made available approximately 8,000 pages of 

criminal case discovery and pleading documents that had 

previously been provided to Mockovak. See CP 55, 62, 68. 

The County's final installment of responsive PRA documents 

was accompanied by an October 29, 2014 exemption log that 

specified the basis for each redacted and withheld document. (CP 71 

- 131) Minor corrections and clarifications to the log were 

subsequently provided to Mockovak on March 2, 2015. (CP 163) 

With the exception of one document, a National Crime Information 

Center (NCIC) report that was withheld pursuant to 28 USC § 534 

and 28 CFR § 20(c), all of the challenged redactions at issue in this 

case were based upon the exemption for attorney work product. 

Mockovak misleadingly insinuates that PRA responses 

revealed facts relating to Kultin immigration matters that were not 

made known at the time of his criminal trial. This allegation is neither 

supported by the relevant documents nor backed by any assertion 

from his trial counsel that representations made to the Court 

regarding the completeness of pre-trial disclosures were inaccurate 
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or overstated in light of PRA disclosures. As discussed in more 

detail below, prior to his 2011 trial, Mockovak was made aware of 

each of the Kultin issues he now characterizes as recently revealed. 

Infra at pp. 25 - 28. 

C. Public Records Lawsuit 

Mockovak filed this PRA lawsuit on September 16, 2014. (CP 

1) He asserts that the County: (1) unlawfully delayed providing him 

with documents responsive to his PRA request; and (2) improperly 

redacted or withheld documents identified on its October 29, 2014 

exemption log. Id. 

The first of these claims, regarding delay in responding to 

the PRA request through October 29, 2014, was settled upon 

Mockovak's December 23, 2014 acceptance of an Offer of Judgment 

as to all claims except for that challenging the propriety of document 

redactions and withholdings identified on the PAO's October 29, 2014 

exemption log. (CP 346-48) 

This appeal thus pertains to Mockovak's only unsettled 

claim: that the County improperly redacted or withheld certain 

documents identified on its October 29, 2014 exemption log sheet. 

- 5 -



Mockovak initially indicated in interrogatory responses that he was 

challenging 130 such redactions. (CP 133 to 158) 

1. Cross-motions for summary judgment. 

On June 25, 2015, the County filed a motion for partial4 

summary judgment on Mockovak's redaction challenge. (CP 18) In 

conjunction with its motion, the PAO filed sealed and unredacted 

copies of the 130 documents initially challenged by Mockovak in 

order to allow for their in camera review. (CP 1958 - 2082) At 

Mockovak's request, the County's motion was initially noted for July 

24, 2015, but was then continued to September 4, 2015 in order to 

accommodate Mockovak's deposition of Daniel Kultin. (CP 983) 

On August 20, 2015, Mockovak filed a combined partial 

summary judgment cross-motion and response that reduced the 

number of contested document redactions from 130 to 81. (CP 355 

- 406 and 756 - 870) Challenged documents were attached to 

Mockovak's cross-motion in three separate appendices. Appendix 

A contained documents for which attorney work product protections 

were allegedly overridden by criminal case discovery requirements 

under Brady (CP 756); Appendix B included documents for which 

4 The motion was for "partial summary judgment" because the delay claim, while 
settled, had not yet been reduced to judgment. 
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work product privilege was allegedly waived (CP 809); and 

Appendix C provided documents that allegedly did not constitute 

protected work product because they were purportedly not 

prepared in anticipation of litigation. (CP 842) Mockovak 

additionally challenged the withholding of Kultin's NCIC report, 

asserting that the federal prohibition against its disclosure had been 

waived through partial descriptions of its contents. 

County Exhibit 17 sequentially organizes Mockovak's 81 

contested documents, with reference numbers and letters in the left 

margin adjacent to each redaction. (CP 1035 - 1106) As explained 

at CP 1036, Exhibit 17 margin numbers cross-reference to numbers 

that appear on the 130 initialiy challenged documents attached to 

the County's Exhibit 13 (CP 181) and provided without redaction 

under seal. (CP 1958)5 Exhibit 17 margin letters "A," "B" and "C" 

indicate whether the challenged redaction appears in Mockovak's 

Cross-motion Appendix A (documents alleged to contain Brady 

material), Appendix B (documents for which privilege was allegedly 

waived), and/or Appx. C (documents allegedly not prepared in 

anticipation of litigation). (CP 1035 to 1106) 

5 Exhibit 17 numbers likewise correspond with numbering appearing on the 
exemption log (CP 71) and on Mockovak's interrogatory responses. (CP 133) 
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Mockovak's August 20, 2015 cross-motion submittals made 

no mention of any summary judgment need to conduct further 

discovery. (CP 355 - 870) On August 26, 2015, however, he 

moved pursuant to CR 56(f) to again continue partial summary 

judgment motions to October 30, 2015 based on his desire to 

depose and subpoena records from FBI Task Force Officer 

Carver.6 (CP 871) Carver is a Seattle Police detective who was 

appointed as a Deputy United States Marshal to act as an FBI Task 

Force Officer. (CP 298, 1277) Regarding his role in the Mockovak 

matter, Carver received his assignments from and was under day-

to-day supervision and control of the FBI. (CP 1277) The Court 

continued the motions to October 30, 2015. (CP 1007) 

In the meantime, in accordance with federal Touhy 

regulations7
, Mockovak sought permission from the United States 

Department of Justice (DOJ) to conduct Carver's deposition and to 

subpoena investigatory file documents. As part of that request, 

Mockovak disputed the need for a Touhy submittal and identified 

6 The deposition subpoena was served on Carver on August 12, 2015. (CP 1228) 
The DOJ timely objected on August 17, 2015. (CP 1240) See CR 45(c)(2)(B) The 
deposition was then deferred pending review of Mockovak's Touhy submittal. 

7 28 C.F.R. §§ 16.21 - 16.28 sets forth procedures for obtaining DOJ file material 
or information acquired as part of a DOJ employee's official duties or status. See 
CP 1266-68 (descripting source and scope of Touhy requirements.) 
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the scope and purported relevance of proposed discovery. (CP 

920-24) On September 23, 2015, the DOJ sent a letter to 

Mockovak denying the deposition/subpoena request. (CP 1261-62) 

On October 19, 2015, Mockovak filed a motion to compel Detective 

Carver's deposition, noting the matter for consideration without 

argument on October 27, 2015. (CP 1180) The DOJ and County 

both opposed the motion. (CP 1263 and 1279) 

No CR 56(f) motion to continue the October 30, 2015 

summary judgment cross-motion date was made by Mockovak, and 

no request to defer consideration of dispositive motions occurred 

either in Mockovak's summary judgment reply (CP 1309-24) or at 

the time of the October 30, 2015 summary judgment argument. 

2. Post-argument submittals and rulings 

Following summary judgment argument, the Court requested 

that the parties each submit additional material to assist in weighing 

the public interests at stake, if any, in disclosures that might show 

Brady violations, against the interests underlying the asserted work 

product exemption. (CP 1942) The Court indicated that its request 

was being made under Roth v. Dept. of Justice, 642 F.3d 1161, 

1178 (D.C.Cir. 2001). Id. 
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The County initially sought email clarification of the request, 

because neither party had argued that Roth's privacy-related 

balancing of interests applied to work product exemption review at 

issue. Mockovak objected that the County email was an improper 

"attempt to present new and additional arguments to the Court in a 

post-argument email." (CP 1939) In response, the parties were 

advised that legal argument should be submitted by motion or legal 

briefing - with further direction that briefing and memoranda were 

to be filed and served on opposing counsel with working copies 

delivered to the Judge's mailroom. (CP 1939 and 1941) 

Mockovak and the County each filed additional material. (CP 

1394 and 1686) The County's submittal included a memorandum 

that summarized the Roth decision (CP 1689-91), pointed out that 

neither party was asserting that its privacy-based balancing of 

private and public interests applied to the work product exemptions 

at issue (1691-92), and described how such a balance of interests 

would nonetheless support work product protections if applied in 

this case. (CP 1692-99) 

On November 23, 2015, the Court granted the County's 

partial summary judgment motion and denied plaintiff's cross-
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motion. (CP 1915-17) Mockovak's discovery motion was 

subsequently denied on November 25, 2015. (CP 1913) 

On December 22, 2015, Mockovak filed a notice of appeal 

seeking review of both the partial summary judgment and discovery 

rulings. (CP 1918) 

Thereafter, on February 1, 2016, the Court entered final 

judgment. (CP 1956) In accordance with the accepted Offer of 

Judgment, the judgment disposed of the pending delay claim by 

awarding Mockovak $20,000 plus $24,780.89 in attorney fees. Id. 

Ill. ARGUMENT 

A. Redactions Properly Supported by PRA Exemptions 

1. Standard of review 

The PRA requires state and local agencies to make 

available all public records8 upon request, unless the record falls 

within a specific exemption. Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue 

School District, 164 Wn.2d 199, 209,189 P.3d 139 (2008).9 

8 "Public record" means "any writing containing information relating to the 
conduct of government ... prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or 
local agency." RCW 42.56.010(3). The term "agency" includes state and local 
agencies and does not include federal agencies. RCW 42.56.010(1) 

9 PRA claims are appropriately resolved by summary judgment. Spokane 
Research v. Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 106, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005); See also RCW 
42.56.550(3)(authorizing adjudication of PRA claim based solely upon affidavits). 
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Each of the redactions at issue is grounded in a recognized 

PRA exemption. For reasons discussed in subsection lll(A)(3) 

below, the redaction of 80 challenged attorney communications is 

well-supported by applicable attorney work product standards. For 

reasons discussed in subsection lll(A)(4) below, withholding of 

Kultin's NCIC Report (Document 126) was properly based on 

federal non-disclosure requirements. 

Challenges to an agency action under the PRA are reviewed 

de novo. RCW 42.56.550(3); Resident Action Council v. Seattle 

Housing Authority, 177 Wn.2d 417, 428, 327 P.3d 600 (2013). 

"Where the record consists only of affidavits, memoranda of law, 

and other documentary evidence, an appellate court stands in the 

same position as the trial court in reviewing agency action 

challenged under the PRA." SEIU Healthcare v. DSHS, 193 Wn. 

App. 377 (2016). A party opposing disclosure bears the burden of 

showing that an exemption applies. RCW 42.56.550(1). 

2. No merit to challenge of unredacted documents 

Before addressing the merits of Mockovak's exemption 

challenges, three redaction challenges are properly rejected 

because documents were made available in full: 
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• Document 130 (CP 779). An unredacted copy of the 
challenged June 27, 2010 5:00 pm email was provided to 
Mockovak. GP 668 (October 21, 2014 letter advising 
counsel for Mockovak that enclosed unredacted email 
provided as substitute for earlier redacted version). CP 
771 (unredacted Document 130). 

• Documents 58 and 62 (CP 825). Unredacted copies of 
June 8, 2010 10:12 am (Doc. 58) and September 20, 
2010 2:50 pm (Doc. 62) emails were likewise made 
available in response to Mockovak's PRA request. See 
CP 622 (unredacted document 58); CP 621-622 
(unredacted document 62).10 

3. Redacted material exempt as attorney work product 

The PAO's redaction of 80 challenged attorney email and 

letter communications is well-supported by fundamental attorney 

work product protections. Each of the challenged work product 

redactions is a communication concerning Mockovak criminal case 

preparations, reflecting issues under consideration at various 

pretrial, trial and appeal stages. Each is from the working file of 

PAO attorneys involved in Mockovak's prosecution. Each is from 

the time period between his November 12, 2009 arrest and March 

17, 2011 sentencing. With exception of one paralegal email (Doc.

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